ART TECHNOLOGY GROUP INC Form PRE 14A March 28, 2003

#### SCHEDULE 14A INFORMATION

#### Proxy Statement Pursuant to Section 14(a) of the

#### Securities Exchange Act of 1934

Filed by the Registrant þ

Filed by a Party other than the Registrant o

Check the appropriate box:

þ Preliminary Proxy Statement

o Definitive Proxy Statement

o Definitive Additional Materials Soliciting Material Pursuant to sec.240.14a-11(c) or sec.240.14a-12

o Confidential, for Use of the Commission Only (as permitted by Rule 14a-6(e)(2))

#### ART TECHNOLOGY GROUP, INC.

#### (Name of Registrant as Specified In Its Charter)

Payment of Filing Fee (Check the appropriate box):

b No fee required.

o Fee computed on table below per Exchange Act Rules 14a-6(i)(4) and 0-11.

(1) Title of each class of securities to which transaction applies:

- (2) Aggregate number of securities to which transaction applies:
- (3) Per unit price or other underlying value of transaction computed pursuant to Exchange Act Rule 0-11 (Set forth the amount on which the filing fee is calculated and state how it was determined):

(4) Proposed maximum aggregate value of transaction:

(5) Total fee paid:

o Fee paid previously with preliminary materials.

o Check box if any part of the fee is offset as provided by Exchange Act Rule 0-11(a)(2) and identify the filing for which the offsetting fee was paid previously. Identify the previous filing by registration statement number, or the Form or Schedule and the date of its filing.

(1) Amount Previously Paid:

(2) Form, Schedule or Registration Statement No.:

(3) Filing Party:

(4) Date Filed:

#### ART TECHNOLOGY GROUP, INC.

#### 25 First Street Cambridge, Massachusetts 02141

Dear Stockholder:

I am pleased to invite you to attend the 2003 Annual Meeting of Stockholders of Art Technology Group, Inc. on May 21, 2003. We will hold the meeting at 10:00 a.m. at the offices of Hale and Dorr LLP, 60 State Street, Boston, Massachusetts. Annual meetings play an important role in maintaining communications and understanding among our management, board of directors and stockholders, and I hope that you will be able to join us.

On the pages following this letter you will find the Notice of Annual Meeting of Stockholders, which lists the matters to be considered at the meeting, and the proxy statement, which describes the matters listed in the Notice. We have also enclosed our 2002 Annual Report.

If you are a stockholder of record, we have enclosed your proxy card, which allows you to vote on the matters considered at the meeting. Simply mark, sign and date your proxy card, and then mail the completed proxy card to our transfer agent, EquiServe Trust Company, N.A., in the enclosed postage-paid envelope. You may also submit your proxy electronically via the Internet or by telephone as described on pages 2 and 3 of the enclosed proxy. You may attend the meeting and vote in person even if you have sent in a proxy card or submitted your proxy electronically.

If your shares are held in the name of a bank, broker or other holder of record, you will receive instructions from the holder of record that you must follow in order for your shares to be voted.

Sincerely yours,

Robert D. Burke

Chief Executive Officer and President

THE ABILITY TO HAVE YOUR VOTE COUNTED AT THE MEETING IS AN IMPORTANT STOCKHOLDER RIGHT, AND I HOPE YOU WILL CAST YOUR VOTE IN PERSON OR BY PROXY REGARDLESS OF THE NUMBER OF SHARES YOU HOLD.

#### ART TECHNOLOGY GROUP, INC.

#### **25 First Street** Cambridge, Massachusetts 02141

### Notice of 2003 Annual Meeting of Stockholders

Time and Date	10:00 a.m., Eastern standard time, on May 21, 2003		
Place	Hale and Dorr LLP 60 State Street Boston, Massachusetts		
Items of Business	At the meeting, we will ask you and our other stockholders to:		
	(1) Elect three directors to three year terms.		
	(2) Approve an amendment to our charter to decrease the number of shares of authorized common stock from 500,000,000 to 200,000,000 and the number of shares of authorized stock (including common stock) from 510,000,000 to 210,000,000.		
	(3) Approve the Amended and Restated 1999 Outside Director Stock Option Plan, which will increase the number of shares of common stock issuable under the plan from 300,000 to 800,000.		
	(4) Approve an increase in the number of shares of common stock issuable under our 1999 Employee Stock Purchase Plan from 3,000,000 to 5,000,000.		
	(5) Transact any other business properly presented at the meeting.		
Record Date	You may vote if you were a stockholder of record at the close of business on March 26, 2003.		
Proxy Voting	It is important that your shares be represented and voted at the meeting. Whether or not you plan to attend the meeting, please mark, sign, date and promptly mail your proxy card to our transfer agent, EquiServe Trust Company, N.A., in the enclosed postage-paid envelope. Alternatively, you may submit your proxy via the Internet or by telephone by following the directions on pages 2 and 3. You may revoke your proxy at any time prior to its exercise at the meeting. You may revoke electronic votes by using the same method as your original vote and making any changes you deem necessary.		
	By Order of the Board of Directors		
	Paul G. Shorthose Chairman of the Board of Directors		
Cambridge, Massachus April , 2003	etts		

#### PROXY STATEMENT

#### for the ART TECHNOLOGY GROUP, INC. 2003 ANNUAL MEETING OF STOCKHOLDERS

#### TABLE OF CONTENTS

### INFORMATION ABOUT THE MEETING

	Page
This Proxy Statement	2
Who May Vote	2
How to Vote	3
Quorum Required to Transact Business	4
DISCUSSION OF PROPOSALS	
Proposal One: Election of Class I Directors	5
Proposal Two: Amend our Charter to Decrease the Number of Authorized Shares of Stock	6
Proposal Three: Amend and Restate the 1999 Outside Director Stock Option Plan	6
Proposal Four: Increase in Shares Issuable under the 1999 Employee Stock	
Purchase Plan	8
Other Matters	11
Submission of Future Stockholder Proposals	11
INFORMATION ABOUT CONTINUING DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS	
Background Information about Directors Continuing in Office	12
Background Information about Executive Officers	13
INFORMATION ABOUT CORPORATE GOVERNANCE	
General	14
Board and Committee Meetings	14
Compensation of Directors	16
Audit Committee Report	18
Certain Relationships and Related Party Transactions	20
INFORMATION ABOUT EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION	
Summary Compensation	21
Compensation Committee Report	23
Employment Contracts, Termination of Employment and	
Change of Control Arrangements	25
Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation	26
OTHER MATTERS	
Information About Stock Ownership	27
Stock Performance Graph	29
Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance	30
Householding	30

#### INFORMATION ABOUT THE MEETING

#### **This Proxy Statement**

We have sent you this proxy statement and the enclosed proxy card because our board of directors is soliciting your proxy to vote at our 2003 Annual Meeting of Stockholders or any adjournment or postponement of the meeting. The meeting will be held at 10 a.m., local time, on Wednesday, May 21, 2003, at the offices of Hale and Dorr LLP, 60 State Street, Boston, Massachusetts.

THIS PROXY STATEMENT summarizes information about the proposals to be considered at the meeting and other information you may find useful in determining how to vote.

THE PROXY CARD is the means by which you actually authorize another person to vote your shares in accordance with the instructions.

Our directors, officers and employees may solicit proxies in person or by telephone, mail, electronic mail, facsimile or telegram. We will pay the expenses of soliciting proxies, although we will not pay additional compensation to these individuals for soliciting proxies. We will request banks, brokers and other nominees holding shares for a beneficial owner to forward copies of the proxy materials to those beneficial owners and to request instructions for voting those shares. We will reimburse these banks, brokers and other nominees for their related reasonable expenses. We have not retained the services of any proxy solicitation firm to assist us in soliciting proxies.

We are mailing this proxy statement and the enclosed proxy card to stockholders for the first time on April , 2003. In this mailing, we are enclosing a copy of our 2002 Annual Report to Stockholders, which includes our annual report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2002.

#### Who May Vote

Holders of record of our common stock at the close of business on March 26, 2003 are entitled to one vote per share on each matter properly brought before the meeting. The proxy card states the number of shares you are entitled to vote.

A list of stockholders entitled to vote will be available at the meeting. In addition, you may contact Edward Terino, our Secretary, at our address as set forth in the notice appearing before this proxy statement, to make arrangements to review a copy of the stockholder list at our offices located at 25 First Street, Cambridge, Massachusetts, prior to the meeting, between the hours of 8:30 a.m. and 5:30 p.m., local time, on any business day from May 9, 2003 up to the time of the meeting.

#### How to Vote

You may vote your shares at the meeting in person or by proxy:

To Vote in Person, you must attend the meeting, and then complete and submit the ballot provided at the meeting.

*To Vote by Proxy*, you must either: (1) mark, sign and date the enclosed proxy card and then mail the proxy card to our transfer agent, EquiServe Trust Company, N.A., or (2) submit your proxy electronically by using the Internet or telephone. To submit your vote using the Internet, log on to *www.eproxyvote.com/artg*. Use the registration number printed on your proxy card as your login name, and use the last 4 digits of your Social Security number as the PIN. If you represent an entity rather than an individual, use the last 4 digits of the entity s Taxpayer Identification Number as the PIN. If the entity does not have a Taxpayer Identification Number, you will not be able to vote electronically. You will see an electronic version of the proxy card on the screen and you may submit your votes by clicking on your choice for each question. To submit your vote by telephone, you may call 1-877-PRX-VOTE (1-877-779-8683) and follow the directions. Your proxy will be valid only if you complete and return the proxy card or vote electronically before the meeting. By completing and returning the proxy card, either by mail or electronically, you will direct the designated persons to vote your shares at the meeting in the manner you specify in the proxy card. If you complete the proxy card with the exception of the voting instructions, then the designated persons will vote your shares for the election of the nominated directors, the amendment to our charter, the amendment and restatement of our 1999 Outside Director Stock Option Plan and the increase in shares issuable under our 1999 Employee Stock Purchase Plan. If any other business properly comes before the meeting, the designated persons will have the discretion to vote your shares as they deem appropriate.

Even if you complete and return a proxy card or submit your proxy electronically, you may revoke it at any time before it is exercised by taking one of the following actions:

send written notice to Edward Terino, our Secretary, at our address as set forth in the Notice appearing before this proxy statement;

send us another signed proxy with a later date;

log on to the Internet the same way you did originally and change your votes;

call the telephone number listed above and change your votes; or

attend the meeting, notify our Secretary that you are present, and then vote by ballot.

If your shares are held in the name of a bank, broker or other nominee holder, you will receive instructions from the holder of record explaining how your shares may be voted. Please note that, in such an event, you must obtain a proxy, executed in your favor, from the holder of record to be able to vote at the meeting.



#### **Quorum Required to Transact Business**

At the close of business on March 26, 2003, 70,996,637 shares of our common stock were outstanding. Our by-laws require that a majority of the shares of our common stock outstanding on that date be represented, in person or by proxy, at the meeting in order to constitute the quorum we need to transact business. We will count abstentions and broker non-votes in determining whether a quorum exists. A broker non-vote occurs when a nominee holding shares for a beneficial owner does not vote on a particular proposal because the nominee does not have discretionary voting power for that particular item and has not received instructions from the beneficial owner.

#### DISCUSSION OF PROPOSALS

#### **Proposal One: Election of Class I Directors**

The first proposal on the agenda for the meeting is the election of three people to serve as Class I directors for three-year terms beginning at the meeting and ending at our 2006 Annual Meeting of Stockholders.

Under our by-laws, our board of directors has the authority to fix the number of directors and our board is divided into three classes serving for staggered three-year terms. The number of directors currently is fixed at eight. Scott A. Jones, one of our Class II directors, has advised us that he is resigning from the board due to time constraints. The board has determined that the number of directors will decrease from eight to seven immediately before the meeting, upon the resignation of Mr. Jones.

The board has nominated John R. Held, Paul G. Shorthose and Phyllis S. Swersky, the current Class I directors, for re-election. Brief biographies of Mr. Held, Mr. Shorthose and Ms. Swersky, as of March 15, 2003, follow. You will find information about their stock holdings on page 27.

John R. Held	Mr. Held has been a director since July 2002. Mr. Held formerly served as both the President and Chief Executive Officer of Chipcom, and served in a variety of management positions during his 14-year tenure at Genrad. Mr. Held is a director of BNS Co. Mr. Held is 64 years old.
Paul G. Shorthose	Mr. Shorthose has been a director since October 2001 and Chairman of the Board of Directors since July 2002. Mr. Shorthose served as our Chief Executive Officer from October 2001 to December 2002, as our President from February 2000 through December 2002 and as our Chief Operating Officer from June 1999 to October 2001. From July 1998 to June 1999, he was Vice President of Marketing and Business Development for Context Integration, Inc., a software-related consulting services company. From August 1997 to July 1998, Mr. Shorthose served as our Vice President, Worldwide Services. Mr. Shorthose is 45 years old.
Phyllis S. Swersky	Ms. Swersky has been a director since May 2000. Since 1995 she has been President of The Meltech Group, a consulting firm specializing in business advisory services for high-growth potential businesses. Ms. Swersky also serves as a director of Investor Financial Services. Ms. Swersky is 51 years old.

We expect that Mr. Held, Mr. Shorthose and Ms. Swersky will be able to serve if elected. If any of them is not able to serve, proxies may be voted for a substitute nominee.

The nominees receiving the greatest number of votes cast will be elected as directors. We will not count abstentions when we tabulate votes cast for the director election. Brokers have discretionary voting power with respect to director elections.

#### Proposal Two: Amend our Charter to Decrease the Number of Authorized Shares of Stock

The board of directors believes that it would be in the best interests of our stockholders to amend our charter to decrease the number of shares of authorized common stock from 500,000,000 to 200,000,000 and the total number of authorized shares of stock (including common stock) from 510,000,000 to 210,000,000.

By decreasing the number of shares of authorized stock, we will be able to decrease our annual Delaware franchise tax payments. At current rates, for example, we would save approximately \$90,000 per year.

As of February 28, 2003, 70,982,399 shares of common stock outstanding and an additional 8,655,285 shares of common stock reserved for issuance under our various equity incentive plans. The board believes that 200,000,000 shares of authorized common stock will provide us sufficient flexibility with regard to future financing and acquisition transactions, employee benefit plans, and other general corporate purposes. If the board believes it to be in our best interest to issue new shares of common stock in the future, the board will retain the authority to determine the terms of the issuance and would not seek further authorization by vote of the stockholders unless except as required by applicable law.

## The board believes that stockholder approval of the amendment to our charter is in the best interest of our company and our stockholders and therefore recommends that stockholders vote FOR this proposal.

The affirmative vote of the holders of a majority of the outstanding common stock entitled to vote at the meeting is required for the approval of the amendment to our charter to decrease the number of authorized shares of common stock from 500,000,000 to 200,000,000 and the total number of authorized shares of stock (including common stock) from 510,000,000 to 210,000,000. Broker non-votes will not be counted as votes in favor of such matter. Accordingly, abstentions and broker non-votes will have the same effect as a vote against the proposed amendment to the charter.

#### Proposal Three: Amend and Restate the 1999 Outside Director Stock Option Plan

The board of directors believes that it would be in the best interests of our stockholders to amend and restate our 1999 Outside Director Stock Option Plan to increase the number of shares of common stock reserved under the plan from 300,000 to 800,000 and to eliminate automatic grants of options pursuant to the plan.

Our board believes that the strength of our corporate governance depends, in large part, upon our ability to attract and retain independent, qualified and active members to our board. Stock options, which provide our independent directors with a financial stake in our success are an important part of the incentives that we can provide to these directors. In addition, qualified individuals continue to expect and require public companies to provide stock option grants in connection with serving as directors.

As of March 1, 2003, only 50,000 shares of our common stock were available for future grant under the plan. Accordingly, on March 24, 2003, the board adopted, subject to stockholder approval, an amendment and restatement of the plan that would increase the number of shares of common stock available for issuance under the plan from 300,000 to 800,000 (subject to a proportionate adjustment for certain changes in our capitalization, such as stock splits). In addition, the board eliminated automatic grant provisions set forth in the plan because those provisions are not necessary to enable option grants and exercises under the plan to qualify as exempted transactions for purposes of Section 16 of the Securities Exchange Act.

See Appendix B to this proxy statement for the text of the Amended and Restated 1999 Outside Director Stock Option Plan.

## The board believes that stockholder approval of the Amended and Restated 1999 Outside Director Stock Option Plan is in the best interests of our company and our stockholders and therefore recommends that stockholders vote FOR this proposal.

An affirmative vote of a majority of the common stock voting on the matter, in person or by proxy, is necessary to approve the amendment and restatement of our 1999 Outside Director Stock Option Plan. Abstentions effectively count as votes against approval of the plan. Brokers have discretionary voting power with respect to this proposal.

#### Federal Income Tax Consequences

The following summarizes the United States federal income tax consequences that generally will arise with respect to awards granted under the plan. This summary is based on the tax laws in effect as of the date of this proxy statement. Changes to these laws could alter the tax consequences described below.

*Nonstatutory Stock Options.* A director will not have income upon the grant of a nonstatutory stock option. A director will have compensation income upon the exercise of a nonstatutory stock option equal to the value of the stock on the day the director exercised the option less the exercise price. Upon sale of the stock, the director will have capital gain or loss equal to the difference between the sales proceeds and the value of the stock on the day the option was exercised. This capital gain or loss will be long-term if the director has held the stock for more than one year and otherwise will be short-term.

*Tax Consequences to Us.* There will be no tax consequences to us except that we will be entitled to a deduction when a director has compensation income. Any such deduction will be subject to the limitations of Section 162(m) of the Code.

#### Proposal Four: Increase in Shares Issuable under the 1999 Employee Stock Purchase Plan

Our board of directors believes that our growth and profitability depend, in large part, upon our ability to maintain a competitive position in attracting and retaining key personnel. The board continues to believe that it is important for employees to invest in our company in order for them to have a financial stake in our success, and employees in the technology sector continue to expect and require the ability to participate in an employee stock purchase plan as part of their total compensation packages because the benefits are more certain.

As of March 13, 2003, only 1,077,402 shares of our common stock were available for future purchase under our 1999 Employee Stock Purchase Plan. Accordingly, on March 24, 2003, the board adopted, subject to stockholder approval, an amendment to the purchase plan that would increase the number of shares of common stock available for issuance under the purchase plan from 3,000,000 to 5,000,000 (subject to a proportionate adjustment for certain changes in our capitalization, such as a stock split).

The table below shows the details of employee participation in the purchase plan during each period since its inception. Due to the price of our common stock during the last six months and the high percentage of employee participation (37%) in the purchase plan, employees purchased over 900,000 shares of common stock during the six-month period ending on December 31, 2002.

#### Purchases of Shares under 1999 Employee Stock Purchase Plan

Purchase Date	Purchase Price	Shares Purchased	Number of Participants
January 20, 2000	\$ 5.10	150,850	180
August 10, 2000	53.23	23,172	257
February 12, 2001	32.03	43,441	415
August 10, 2001	1.62	88,267	273
February 8, 2002	1.49	694,131	271
September 30, 2002	0.81	456,157	198
December 31, 2002	0.79	466,580	209
Total		1,922,598	

Any increase in the number of shares reserved under the purchase plan must be approved by our stockholders in order for our employees to benefit from the tax advantages that underlie the purchase plan. Therefore, in order for us to continue to use the purchase plan effectively as part of the compensation package we offer to our employees, we need to obtain stockholder approval for the amendment to the purchase plan.

# The board believes that stockholder approval of the amendment to the purchase plan is in the best interests of our company and our stockholders and therefore recommends that stockholders vote FOR this proposal.

An affirmative vote of the holders of a majority of the common stock voting on the matter, in person or by proxy, is necessary to approve the amendment to the purchase plan. Abstentions effectively count as votes against approval of the amendment. Brokers have discretionary voting power with respect to this proposal.

#### Summary of Employee Stock Purchase Plan

The following summary is qualified in all respects by reference to the full text of our 1999 Employee Stock Purchase Plan. You can obtain a copy of the purchase plan by writing to Edward Terino, our Secretary, at our address as set forth in the Notice appearing before this proxy statement.

The purchase plan was adopted by our board of directors on May 10, 1999 and approved by our stockholders on June 18, 1999. On March 20, 2002 the board voted to amend the purchase plan in order to reduce each plan offering period from 6 months to 3 months and to increase the number of shares that may be issued under the purchase plan from 1,000,000 to 3,000,000 and on May 22, 2002 the stockholders approved this increase. On March 24, 2003 the board voted to amend the purchase plan to increase the number of shares that may be issued under the purchase plan to increase the number of shares that may be issued under the purchase plan to increase the number of shares that may be issued under the purchase plan to increase the number of shares that may be issued under the purchase plan to increase the number of shares that may be issued under the purchase plan to increase the number of shares that may be issued under the purchase plan from 3,000,000 to 5,000,000.

Only our employees are eligible to purchase shares of our common stock under the purchase plan. Employees receive the right to purchase a specified number of shares of common stock at 85% of the closing market price of our common stock on either (1) the first business day of the offering period or (2) the last business day of the offering period, whichever price is lower.

An employee may authorize us to make a payroll deduction of between 1% and 10% of the employee s compensation during any offering period. At the end of the offering period, the deducted money is used to buy shares of our common stock. During an offering period, an employee may purchase no more than the number of shares calculated by dividing the closing market price of our common stock on the first day of the offering period into \$6,250. This number is derived from a limitation imposed by the Internal Revenue Code, which provides that no employee may be granted an option which permits the employee s rights to purchase stock under an employee stock purchase plan to accrue at a rate that exceeds \$25,000 of the fair market value of the common stock for each calendar year in which the option is outstanding at any time.

The board administers the purchase plan and has the authority to adopt, amend and repeal the administrative rules, guidelines and practices relating to the purchase plan and to interpret the provisions of the purchase plan.

The board may amend the purchase plan at any time, except that if Section 423 of the Internal Revenue Code requires that the stockholders approve an amendment, the amendment will not be effective until stockholders approve it. Section 423 requires approval of the increase in the number of shares issuable under the purchase plan. It does not require approval of the shortening of the plan offering period from six months to three months, as described above.

#### U.S. Federal Income Tax Consequences

The following is a summary of the United States federal income tax consequences that generally will arise with respect to purchases made under the purchase plan and with respect to the sale of common stock acquired under the purchase plan.

*Tax Consequences to Participants.* In general, a participant will not recognize taxable income upon enrolling in the purchase plan or upon purchasing shares of common stock at the end of an offering period. Instead, if a participant sells common stock acquired under the purchase plan at a sale price that exceeds the price at which the participant purchased the common stock, then the participant will recognize taxable income in an amount equal to the excess of the sale price of the common stock over the price at which the participant purchased the common stock. A portion of that taxable income will be ordinary income, and a portion may be capital gain.

If the participant sells the common stock more than one year after acquiring it and more than two years after the date on which the offering commenced, called the Grant Date, then the participant will be taxed as follows. If the sale price of the common stock is higher than the price at which the participant purchased the common stock, the participant will recognize ordinary compensation income in an amount equal to the lesser of:

fifteen percent of the fair market value of the common stock on the Grant Date; and

the excess of the sale price of the common stock over the price at which the participant purchased the common stock.

Any further income will be long-term capital gain. If the sale price of the common stock is less than the price at which the participant purchased the common stock, then the participant will recognize long-term capital loss in an amount equal to the excess of the price at which the participant purchased the common stock over the sale price of the common stock.

If the participant sells the common stock within one year after acquiring it or within two years after the Grant Date, then the participant will recognize ordinary compensation income in an amount equal to the excess of the fair market value of the common stock on the date that it was purchased over the price at which the participant purchased the common stock. The participant will also recognize capital gain in an amount equal to the excess of the sale price of the common stock over the fair market value of the common stock on the date that it was purchased, or capital loss in an amount equal to the excess of the fair market value of the common stock on the date that it was purchased over the sale price of the common stock. This capital gain or loss will be a long-term capital gain or loss if the participant has held the

common stock for more than one year prior to the date of the sale and will be a short-term capital gain or loss if the participant has held the common stock for a shorter period.

*Tax Consequences to ATG.* The offering of common stock under the purchase plan will have no tax consequences to us. Moreover, in general, neither the purchase nor the sale of common stock acquired under the purchase plan will have any tax consequences to us except that we will be entitled to a business-expense deduction with respect to any ordinary compensation income recognized by a participant who sells common stock within one year after acquiring it or within two years after the Grant Date. Any such deduction will be subject to the limitations of Section 162(m) of the Internal Revenue Code.

#### **Other Matters**

Our board of directors is not aware of any matters that are expected to come before the meeting other than those referred to in this proxy statement. If any other matter should properly come before the meeting, the persons named in the accompanying proxy card intend to vote the proxies in accordance with their best judgment.

The chairperson of the meeting may refuse to allow the transaction of any business not presented beforehand, or to acknowledge the nomination of any person not made, in compliance with the above procedures.

#### Submission of Future Stockholder Proposals

Under SEC rules, a stockholder who intends to present a proposal, including nomination of a director, at our 2004 Annual Meeting of Stockholders and who wishes the proposal to be included in the proxy statement for that meeting must submit the proposal in writing to our Secretary at 25 First Street, Cambridge, Massachusetts 02141, prior to December 17, 2003. SEC rules set standards for the types of stockholder proposals and the information that must be provided by the stockholder making the request.

A stockholder may also submit a proposal to be considered at our 2004 Annual Meeting of Stockholders pursuant to our by-laws, which provide that the proposal must be received by our Secretary not less than sixty days nor more than ninety days prior to that meeting. This notice must include the information required by the provisions of our by-laws, a copy of which may be obtained by writing to our Secretary at the address specified above. We have not yet set a date for our 2004 Annual Meeting. If the 2004 Annual Meeting were to be held on May 21, 2004, the anniversary of the 2003 Annual Meeting, the deadline for delivery of a stockholder proposal pursuant to our by-laws would be March 22, 2004. If a proposal is submitted pursuant to our by-laws but after December 17, 2003, the stockholder may not require that the proposal be included in the proxy statement for the 2004 Annual Meeting.

#### **INFORMATION ABOUT**

#### CONTINUING DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS

#### **Background Information about Directors Continuing in Office**

The following Class II and Class III directors will continue in office following the meeting. Scott A. Jones, one of our Class II directors, resigned effective immediately before the meeting. The terms of our Class II directors will expire upon our 2004 Annual Meeting of Stockholders, and the terms of our Class III directors will expire upon our 2005 Annual Meeting of Stockholders. Brief biographies of these directors, as of March 15, 2003, follow. You will find information about their holdings of common stock on page 27.

#### **Class II Directors**

Ilene H. Lang	Ms. Lang has served as a director since October 2001. Since May 2000, Ms. Lang has been a business and financial consultant to various boards of directors, boards of trustees, and CEOs. From May 1999 to May 2000, she served as President and CEO of Individual.com, Inc., an Internet media service. From August 1998 until March 1999, Ms. Lang served as CEO of Essential.com, Inc., an e-commerce company. Ms. Lang has also serves as a director of Adaptec, Inc., a data storage and connectivity company. Ms. Lang is 59 years old.
Thomas N. Matlack	Mr. Matlack has served as a director since November 1997. Since August 1998, he has been a Managing Partner at Megunticook Management LLC, a private investment fund. Mr. Matlack is 38 years old. Class III Directors
Robert D. Burke	Mr. Burke has served as a director since December 2002 and is our Chief Executive Officer and President. From November 2000 through November 2002, Mr. Burke worked at Quidnunc, a customer solutions and services company, where he served as Chief Executive Officer. Mr. Burke served as President ePresence Solutions (formerly Banyan Systems), a online security and identity management company, where he worked from March 1997 through October 2000. Mr. Burke is 48 years old.
Mary E. Makela	Ms. Makela has served as a director since July 2002. Ms. Makela formerly served as President of Cognos Corporation and President and CEO of IMC Systems. Since 1994, Ms. Makela has provided management consulting services to CEOs, and various for profit and non-profit boards of directors. Ms. Makela is 59 years old. 12

#### **Background Information about Executive Officers**

Our executive officers are elected by our board of directors and hold office until the first meeting of the board following the annual meeting of stockholders. Brief biographies of our executive officers follow. The ages of the executive officers are given as of March 15, 2003. You will find information about their holdings of common stock on page 27.

Robert D. Burke	Chief Executive Officer and President. You will find background information about Mr. Burke on page 12.
Edward Terino	Mr. Terino has been Chief Financial Officer and Senior Vice President, Finance since October 2001. From April 1999 to September 2001 he was Chief Financial Officer of Applix, Inc., a provider of enterprise-wide software solutions. From November 1996 to March 1999 he was Chief Financial Officer of Celerity Solutions, Inc. Mr. Terino is 49 years old.
John Dragoon	Mr. Dragoon has been our Senior Vice President of Marketing and Product Management since July 2002. From April 2000 to February 2002 he was Vice President Operations of Internet Capital Group. From June 1984 to April 2002 he served in a variety of roles at IBM, most recently as Director of Marketing, Supply Chain Management. Mr. Dragoon is 42 years old.
R. Gregory Lazar	Mr. Lazar has been Senior Vice President of Worldwide Sales and Field Operations since January 2003. Mr. Lazar was our Vice President and General Manager of North America from July 2002 to December 2002, and our Vice President North American Sales from October 2001 to June 2002. From March 2000 to July 2001 Mr. Lazar was the Chief Executive Officer of Innovia.com, a provider of marketing services to deliver live conferences and seminars over the Web. From 1996 to March 2000, Mr. Lazar served in a variety of roles at PictureTel Corporation, a provider of videoconferencing solutions, most recently as Vice President America Sales. Mr. Lazar is 51 years old.
Fumiaki Matsumoto	Mr. Matsumoto has been Chief Technology Officer since October 2002. Mr. Matsumoto was our Vice President of Technology from February 2002 to October 2002. Mr. Matsumoto has been in varying strategy and product planning roles since joining the company in September 1993. Mr. Matsumoto is 35 years old. 13

#### INFORMATION ABOUT CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

#### General

We believe that good corporate governance is important to ensure that our company is managed for the long-term benefit of our stockholders. During the past year, we have been reviewing our corporate governance policies and practices and comparing them to those suggested by various authorities in corporate governance and the practices of other public companies. We have also been reviewing the provisions of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, the new and proposed rules of the SEC and the proposed new listing standards of the Nasdaq National Market.

Based on our review, we have taken steps to implement voluntarily many of the proposed new rules and listing standards. In particular, we have:

reconstituted our Nominating Committee as the Nominating and Governance Committee;

adopted a new charter for our Audit Committee;

nominated for election three new directors, two of whom we believe will qualify as independent directors under the new rules and listing standards; and

established a disclosure committee.

#### **Board and Committee Meetings**

The board of directors has responsibility for establishing broad corporate policies and reviewing our overall performance rather than day-to-day operations. The board s primary responsibility is to oversee the management of the company and, in so doing, serve the best interests of the company and its stockholders. The board selects, evaluates and provides for the succession of executive officers and, subject to stockholder election, directors. It reviews and approves corporate objectives and strategies, and evaluates significant policies and proposed major commitments of corporate resources. Management keeps the directors informed of our activities through regular written reports and presentations at board and committee meetings.

Our board of directors met in person or via teleconference 14 times in 2002. Scott A. Jones, Ilene H. Lang, Thomas N. Matlack, Paul G. Shorthose and Phyllis S. Swersky attended at least 75% of those meetings. Robert D. Burke, John R. Held and Mary E. Makela joined the board of directors in December 2002, July 2002 and July 2002, respectively, and each of them attended all of the meetings of the board of directors since they joined. The board has three standing committees: an Audit Committee, a Compensation Committee, and a Nominating and Governance Committee.

#### Audit Committee

The Audit Committee reviews our financial reporting and internal controls and policies, recommends the selection of independent accountants, reviews the overall plan and scope of the independent audit, and provides the opportunity for direct contact between our independent accountants and the board. The Audit Committee acts under a written charter adopted and approved on December 18, 2002, which replaced a written charter first adopted and approved on June 12, 2001. A copy of the current Audit Committee Charter is attached to this proxy statement as Appendix A.

The Audit Committee met in person or via teleceonference 10 times during 2002. The current Audit Committee members are Ilene H. Lang, Mary E. Makela and Thomas N. Matlack. Each of the members of the Audit Committee are independent pursuant to Rule 4200(a)(15) of the National Association of Securities Dealers listing standards. Ms. Lang and Mr. Matlack attended all of the meetings of the Audit Committee in 2002. Ms. Makela attended all of the meetings of the Audit Committee held after she joined the Audit Committee in July 2002.

#### **Compensation Committee**

The Compensation Committee reviews, and recommends to the board of directors for approval, the compensation programs for the chief executive officer, other executive officers and key employees. The Compensation Committee also administers our bonus and incentive plans and programs, including stock option and stock purchase plans. The Compensation Committee met or acted by written consent 6 times during 2002. The current members of the Compensation Committee are Mr. Held, Mr. Jones and Ms. Swersky. Mr. Jones and Ms. Swersky attended all of the meetings of the Compensation Committee in 2002. Mr. Held attended all of the meetings of the Compensation Committee held after he joined the Compensation Committee in July 2002.

#### Nominating and Governance Committee

The Nominating and Governance Committee is responsible for identifying and recommending candidates for membership on the board of directors, for conducting the board s annual performance evaluation, and for developing and recommending to the board of directors a set of corporate governance principles. The Nominating and Governance Committee will consider for nomination to the board candidates suggested by the stockholders, provided that such recommendations are delivered to us, with an appropriate biographical summary, no later than the deadline for submission of stockholder proposals. See Submission of Future Stockholder Proposals . The Nominating Committee was established in January 2002, and reconstituted as the Nominating and Governance Committee in July 2002. Its current members are Ms. Lang and Mr. Shorthose.



#### **Compensation of Directors**

In 2002, pursuant to our previous compensation program for non-employee directors:

we paid a cash retainer of \$25,000 per year, paid in quarterly installments, to our non-employee directors and additional payments of \$1,500 for each meeting of the board of directors attended by those directors;

we paid an additional annual retainer of \$10,000, paid in quarterly installments, to each non-employee committee chairperson and an additional \$1,500 to each non-employee director for each committee meeting attended by that director; and

we granted each of our continuing non-employee directors an option to purchase 10,000 shares of common stock as of May 22, 2002, and we granted new, non-employee directors an option to purchase 25,000 shares of common stock as of the date they were added to the board of directors. Each of these grants was fully vested upon grant.

we reimbursed directors living outside of the greater Boston area for travel and living expenses for attending regular board meetings and committee meetings.

In order to more closely align the interests of the outside directors and our stockholders and to assist in the Company s drive for profitability, in December 2002 we adopted our 2003 Outside Director Compensation Plan. Pursuant to the plan,

we pay a cash retainer of \$2,500 per full fiscal quarter to our non-employee directors;

we pay additional payments of \$500 for each in-person meeting of the board of directors or a committee of the board of directors attended by non-employee directors and \$250 for each teleconference meeting of the board of directors or a committee of the board of directors attended by non-employee directors;

in order to compensate committee chairpersons for the additional work imposed by these roles, we provide an additional retainer of \$1,250 per full fiscal quarter to each non-employee committee chairperson;

we reimburse directors living outside of the greater Boston area for travel and living expenses for attending regular board meetings and committee meetings; and

we granted each of our continuing non-employee directors, pursuant to our 1996 Stock Option Plan, an option to purchase 25,000 shares of common stock as of January 14, 2003 which was fully vested upon grant.

If our stockholders approve the amendment and restatement of our 1999 Outside Director Stock Option Plan, we expect that future grants to the outside directors will be made pursuant to that plan.

#### **Equity Compensation Plan Information**

The following table provides information as of March 15, 2003 about the securities authorized for issuance under our equity compensation plans, consisting of our 1996 Stock Option Plan, our 1999 Outside Director Stock Option Plan and our 1999 Employee Stock Purchase Plan.

Plan Category	(a) Number of securities to be issued upon exercise of outstanding options, warrants and rights	(b) Weighted-average exercise price of outstanding options, warrants and rights	(c) Number of securities remaining available for future issuance under equity compensation plans (excluding securities reflected in column (a))
Equity compensation plans approved by stockholders	11,924,455	\$6.43	7,967,852
Equity compensation plans not approved by stockholders	, , ,		. , ,
Total	11,924,455	\$6.43	7,967,852
		—	
	17		

#### Audit Committee Report

The Audit Committee reviewed the audited financial statements for the year ended, and as of, December 31, 2002 and discussed these financial statements with management. The Audit Committee also reviewed and discussed the audited financial statements and the matters required by Statement on Auditing Standards 61, *Communication with Audit Committees*, with Ernst & Young LLP, our independent auditors for 2002. SAS 61 requires Ernst & Young to discuss with our Audit Committee, among other things, the following:

methods to account for significant unusual transactions;

the effect of significant accounting policies in controversial or emerging areas for which there is a lack of authoritative guidance or consensus;

the process used by management in formulating particularly sensitive accounting estimates and the basis for the auditors conclusions regarding the reasonableness of those estimates; and

disagreements, of which there were none, with management over the application of accounting principles, the basis for management s accounting estimates and the disclosures in the financial statements.

Ernst & Young also provided the Audit Committee with the written disclosures and the letter required by Independence Standards Board Standard No. 1, *Independence Discussions with Audit Committees*. This Standard requires auditors annually to disclose in writing all relationships that in the auditors professional opinion may reasonably be thought to bear on independence, confirm their perceived independence and engage in a discussion of independence. In addition, the Audit Committee discussed with Ernst & Young the independence of Ernst & Young from the company, and considered whether Ernst & Young s provision of other, non-audit related services, which are described below under Independent Auditors Fees and Other Matters, is compatible with maintaining such independence.

Based on its discussions with management and Ernst & Young, and its review of the representations and information provided by management and Ernst & Young, the Audit Committee recommended to the board that the audited financial statements be included in the annual report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2002.

#### AUDIT COMMITTEE

Ilene H. Lang Mary E. Makela Thomas N. Matlack 18

#### **Independent Auditors**

The board of directors, upon the recommendation of the Audit Committee, selected Ernst & Young LLP to serve as our independent auditors for the year ending December 31, 2003. Ernst & Young served as our independent auditors for the year ended December 31, 2002. Representatives of Ernst & Young will be present at the meeting to answer appropriate questions and they will have the opportunity to make a statement if they desire to do so.

On March 28, 2002, our board, upon the recommendation of our Audit Committee, decided to dismiss Arthur Andersen LLP as the Company s independent auditors and engaged Ernst & Young LLP to serve as the Company s independent auditors for the fiscal year 2002, effective April 1, 2002.

Neither Arthur Andersen s report on the Company s consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2001 nor Ernst & Young s report on the Company s consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2002 contain any adverse opinion or disclaimer of opinion, nor were they qualified or modified as to uncertainty, audit scope or accounting principles.

During the year ended December 31, 2001 and the interim period ending on March 28, 2002, there were no disagreements with Arthur Andersen on any matter of accounting principle or practice, financial statement disclosure, or auditing scope or procedure which, if not resolved to Arthur Andersen s satisfaction, would have caused them to make reference to the subject matter in conjunction with their report on the Company s consolidated financial statements for such years; and there were no reportable events as defined in Item 304(a)(1)(v) of Regulation S-K.

During the year ended December 31, 2001 and through March 28, 2002 neither the Company, nor anyone acting on its behalf, consulted Ernst & Young with respect to the application of accounting principles to a specified transaction, either completed or proposed, or the type of audit opinion that might be rendered on the Company s consolidated financial statements, or any other matters or reportable events as set forth in Items 304(a)(2)(i) and (ii) of Regulation S-K.

#### **Independent Auditor Fees and Other Matters**

#### Audit Fees

Ernst & Young LLP billed us an aggregate of \$399,200 in fees for professional services rendered in connection with the audit of our consolidated financial statements for the year ended, and as of, December 31, 2002 and the reviews of the consolidated financial statements included in each of our quarterly reports on Form 10-Q during the year ended December 31, 2002.

#### Financial Information Systems Design and Implementation Fees

Ernst & Young LLP did not bill us for any professional services rendered to us and our affiliates for the year ended December 31, 2002 in connection with financial information systems design or implementation, the operation of our information system or the management of our local area network.

#### All Other Fees

Ernst & Young LLP billed us an aggregate of \$148,100 in fees for other services rendered to us and our affiliates for the year ended December 31, 2002. These services consisted of \$28,000 of audit-related services and \$120,100 related to tax compliance and advisory services. Audit-related services consisted of services in connection with registration statements and various other audit-related accounting consultation services.

#### Leased Employees

In connection with its engagement to audit our consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2002, Ernst & Young LLP has informed us that no work was performed by persons other than its full-time, permanent employees.

#### **Certain Relationships and Related Party Transactions**

On November 20, 2001 we loaned Ed Terino, our Chief Financial Officer, a total of \$150,000 pursuant to a note that bears interest at an annual rate of 5.0%. The principal and all interest accruing on the note are payable on November 20, 2005 or such earlier date on which Mr. Terino ceases working for us. The note may be paid by Mr. Terino at any time without penalty. The note is not subject to redemption to us prior to maturity. Mr. Terino s largest aggregate indebtedness to us during 2002 was \$158,366 as of December 31, 2002. As of March 15, 2003, Mr. Terino s aggregate indebtedness to us was \$159,940.

#### INFORMATION ABOUT EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

#### **Summary Compensation**

The following table sets forth information with respect to the annual and long-term compensation that we paid for the past three years to the following persons, who are referred to as our named executive officers:

Robert D. Burke, our chief executive officer since December 2002;

Paul G. Shorthose, our chief executive officer from October 2001 to December 2002;

Edward Terino, John Dragoon, R. Gregory Lazar and Fumiaki Matsumoto, our four other most highly compensated executive officers who continued to serve as executive officers as of December 31, 2002; and

Bernard Bailey, who was our chief operating officer until August 2002, and Lauren Kelley who was our senior vice president, strategic development through October 2002, each of whom would have been one of the four most highly compensated executive officers had he or she remained in his or her respective positions until December 31, 2002.

#### **Summary Compensation Table**

	Annual Compensation			Long-Term Compensation Awards Securities
Name and Principal Position	Year	Salary (\$)	Bonus (\$)	Underlying Options (#)
Robert D. Burke	2002	\$ 16,177	\$	500,000
President and Chief Executive Officer				
Paul G. Shorthose	2002	\$360,600	\$	
Former President and Chief Executive Officer	2001	255,192	195,000	500,000
	2000	200,769		
Edward Terino	2002	\$250,600	\$ 45,000	
Chief Financial Officer	2001	60,577		325,000
John Dragoon	2002	\$158,033	\$	200,000
Senior Vice President Marketing and Product Management				
R. Gregory Lazar	2002	\$219,061	\$ 77,095	175,000
Senior Vice President of Worldwide Sales and Field Operations	2001	41,538		125,000
	21			

Long-Term Compensation